STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Lee Alford, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODERQUIZ ROZELLE COOK,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000819

ERICA McELREATH
Lawton Law Firm, LLC
496 Bramson Ct., Suite 100
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 881-9901

ROBERT DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Roderquiz Cook, was convicted of Murder, Attempted Armed Robbery, and Conspiracy during the Lexington County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Lee Alford, Judge. Deon O'Neill appeared on behalf of the Defendant. Nancy Gunter Cote and Heather Weiss appeared on behalf of the State. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of thirty (30) years for Murder, twenty (20) years for Attempted Armed Robbery, and five (5) years for Conspiracy.

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Was the Defendant provided a fair trial when the prosecution withheld cell tower site records of the Defendant and co-conspirators until the day prior to the trial, withheld additional testimony of a co-conspirator explaining her role in the alleged conspiracy until the closing of pre-trial motions, withheld a confession by a different co-conspirator that he was the triggerman in the alleged murder until the closing of pre-trial motions, and withheld additional cellphone address records of the Defendant and co-conspirators until the second day of trial?

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Defendant, Roderquiz Cook (hereinafter “Defendant”), was arrested and charged with Murder, Attempted Armed Robbery, and Conspiracy. R. 133. The essence of the State’s case was that, while Defendant was employed as the manager of a McDonald’s located in Batesburg-Leesville, he conspired with his girlfriend, Tasha Matthews; his cousin, Meon Miller; and his friend, Angelo Tucker, to come in and rob the store late at night when Defendant was closing. R. 130. According to the State, on the night of October 13, 2010, Defendant’s girlfriend, Tasha Matthews, drove Meon and Angelo and dropped them off near the McDonalds around 11:30 p.m. Id. Defendant and co-employee, Willie Jennings (hereinafter “Mr. Jennings”), were the only employees remaining on duty at the time. Id. According to the State, when Meon and Angelo arrived at the McDonald’s, Mr. Jennings was outside taking out the trash. Id. Meon and Angelo attempted to take Mr. Jennings hostage and bring him back into the store. Id. While outside, a struggle occurred and Mr. Jennings was shot and killed. Id.

The specific facts relevant to the grounds for this appeal pertain to the defense counsel’s (hereinafter “Mr. O’Neill”) pretrial motions for discovery materials. Specifically, during pre-trial motions, Mr. O’Neill renewed his Rule 5 Motion for any outstanding discovery. R. 16. In response, the State specifically stated that they had provided Mr. O’Neill with new discovery the day prior to the trial and that there was nothing beyond that. Id. That information related to cell tower site information from the cell phones of the Defendant and the co-conspirators. R. 17. The State’s reason for its delay was simply that “we just didn’t realize there was a separate file somewhere with the site information.” Id.

Next, Mr. O'Neill specifically moved for a Brady/Riddle Motion to obtain any information that the State may have of newly changed statements of the co-conspirator. R. 17. In response, the State told the court that they turned over everything as it has come into possession and they had no new evidence in their possession at that time. R. 18-20. Then, Mr. O'Neill specifically asked the Court– “have they spoken to any co-defendant, Tasha Matthews, Meon Miller, Angelo Tucker, since the last statement I had from those individuals that either written or verbally contradicts anything they said previously?” R. 19. In response, again the State replied “[t]here’s nothing- I am not aware of anything that’s contradictory to anything they said before.” Id.

At this point, the court went into recess to provide the judge time to research Defendant’s other pre-trial motions. R. 69-70. Upon returning, the Court ruled on several of Mr. O'Neill’s other pretrial motions. Then, at the close of pre-trial, and right before the court prepared to swear in the jury and begin opening statements, the State presented new evidence to Mr. O'Neill that related to changed and/or additional testimony of two of the co-conspirators. R. 84-85. The first statement was that co-conspirator, Tasha Matthews, now stated that Defendant was dealing drugs in Batesburg-Leesville. R. 85-86. She later testified that she had no knowledge of any robbery in place when she was driving Meon and Angelo to Batesburg but, instead, thought they were going out there to do a drug deal. R. 229.

The next statement is one by co-conspirator, Meon Miller. Meon Miller confessed to pulling the trigger and killing Mr. Jennings on the night of the alleged incident, whereas before both Meon and Angelo had adamantly denied being the triggerman. R. 84-85. The State explained that they had interviewed Meon Miller “a week or so prior” to the trial and

he had changed his testimony and confessed to the shooting. R. 86-98. The only statement Mr. O'Neill had in his possession was a denial that had been obtained in September of 2011. After extensive debate, the trial judge simply asked that the State disclose the contents of their meeting with Mr. O'Neill and he postponed the opening statements until the following morning. R. 98-107, 110-25.

On the second day of trial, immediately before the openings were to begin, the State hands over additional evidence relating to the cellphone records of the Defendant and the three co-conspirators. R. 125. This information was a list of addresses that went with the numbers that were provided to the Defendant the day prior to the trial. R. 126.

ARGUMENT

I. The prosecution's withholding of four separate pieces of evidence was in violation of Brady v. Maryland and Rule 5, SCRPC, that deprived Defendant of a fair trial.

There is no general federal constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case. Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 559 (1977) The federal constitution gives the defense no greater right to discovery than exists under South Carolina law. See generally, State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 479 S.E.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1996); Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 559 (1977). However, in response, state courts are generally free to limit the nature and extent of discovery in criminal cases. See Id.

Nevertheless, a defendant has a due process right, under both the federal and State constitution, to present a defense. See U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. 1 § 3. The right to present a defense includes a right to *effectively* cross-examine witnesses at trial. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974) (emphasis added). The defendant also has a due

process right to have the prosecution disclose all evidence that is favorable to the defendant and material to guilt or punishment. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Therefore, the rules of discovery must include procedures to ensure that the defense receives all of the evidence that the prosecutor is constitutionally required to disclose and does so in a timely fashion. See State v. Freeman, 459 S.E.2d 867, 319 S.C. 110 (1995).

Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure codifies South Carolina's obligations under Brady. See Rule 5, SCRCP. The prosecution's duty under Brady applies to sentencing as well as to trial. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Specifically, Rule 5 provides for the disclosure of documents and tangible objects "which are material to the preparation of his defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial. . . ." Moreover, Rule 5 provides a continuing duty to disclose by stating that "[i]f, prior to or during trial, a party discovers additional evidence or material previously requested or ordered, which is subject to discovery or inspection under this rule, he *shall promptly* notify the other party or his attorney or the court of the existence of the additional evidence or material." Rule 5, SCRCP (emphasis added).

Pursuant to Brady, the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material to guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution. See also, State v. Freeman, 459 S.E.2d 867, 319 S.C. 110 (1995); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984). In the realm of Brady disclosure requirements, the duty to disclose also applies to evidence that would tend to impeach the credibility of a government witness whose testimony is central to the government's case. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150

(1972). Reversal of a conviction is required if the undisclosed evidence is material and the omission deprived the defendant of a fair trial. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976).

As it is difficult sometimes to assess the materiality of evidence before trial, the United States Supreme Court has stated that prosecutors are to take a broad view of materiality and err on the side of disclosure. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 432-33 (1995). The constitutional standard of materiality is met “if the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt that did not otherwise exist.” State v. Freeman, 459 S.E.2d 867, 319 S.C. 110 (1995) (citing United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 92 (1976)). A new trial is required under Brady/Giglio if the testimony could “in *any reasonable likelihood* have affected the judgment of the jury. . . .” Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972) (citing Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 271 (1959)) (emphasis added). Moreover, when more than one possible error alone may not constitute a reversible error independently, the aggregation of errors may produce a cumulative effect of prejudice to justify reversal. See 319 S.C. 134 (citing State v. Freeman, 459 S.E.2d 867, 319 S.C. 110 (1995)).

In the case at bar, there were essentially four separate pieces of information/evidence that the State failed to *promptly* provide in a timely fashion to the Defendant in compliance with Brady/Giglio and Rule 5, SCRPC. These are, in chronological order, 1) cell tower site information of the Defendant and co-conspirators that were not provided until the day before the trial; 2) additional testimony of co-conspirator, Tasha Matthews; 3) a newly discovered confession to being the triggerman by co-conspirator, Meon Miller; and 4) additional address information relating to the Defendant and co-conspirator’s cellphone records.

A) Cellphone Information

The first piece of evidence that was not *promptly* disclosed pursuant to Rule 5, South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure was the cell tower site information that was not provided until the day before the trial. R. 17. This evidence was material to the prosecution's case-in-chief, as evidenced by their reference to it 1) in opening statement; 2) by the calling of the prosecution's witness, Ms. Johnson, who was employed by T-Mobile, as custodian of records; 3) calling of prosecution's witness Jay Dobbins, as custodian of records for AT&T; and 4) their use throughout the prosecution's case-in-chief for co-conspirator Tasha Matthews. R. at 192, 161, 296, 191. In summary, there is constant evidence throughout the record to show that the cellphone records were essential to the prosecution's case-in-chief. As such, any evidence in relation to that information should have been handed over *promptly* to Mr. O'Neill in accordance with Brady and Rule 5 so that he could effectively cross-examine the witnesses against the Defendant. Failure to do so deprived the Defendant of a fair trial.

B) Additional testimony of Tasha Matthews

The next piece of evidence was the additional testimony of co-conspirator, Tasha Matthews. R. 85. Specifically, Tasha Matthews added to her testimony to state that Defendant was dealing drugs in Batesburg and that, during the entire time she was driving Meon and Angelo to Batesburg, she was under the impression they were going to do a drug deal. R. 226-27. She continuously denied any knowledge of the robbery. R. 229. This evidence certainly goes to the credibility of the witness and character of the Defendant. It makes an impression on the jury and their judgment of the witness and the Defendant. As

such, failure to disclose this evidence under Brady and Rule 5 SCRPC deprived the Defendant of a fair trial.

C) Confession of Co-conspirator, Meon Miller

The third piece of evidence, and the most detrimental to the Defendant, was the changed confession of co-conspirator, Meon Miller, that he was the triggerman. Prior to this confession, both Meon and Angelo had denied pulling the trigger. R. 84-85. There was *extensive discussion* about the confession during the pre-trial motions and ultimately the judge ruled that the State needed to sit down and discuss the subsequent confession with Mr. O'Neill and that he would postpone opening statements until the following morning. R. 84-106 (emphasis added). Notably, the Judge stated that if this disclosure had occurred during the trial (as opposed to immediately before opening statements), that they would have a different problem and that there is *still* a potential harm to the Defendant— which the State also acknowledged. R. 105.

Respectfully, I disagree with the trial judge's assessment that postponing the openings until the next morning was an adequate fix. In particular, Mr. O'Neill explained to the trial judge that this new testimony changes his entire trial strategy. R. 87-88. Specifically, Mr. O'Neill points out that Meon Miller is the only person the State has who allegedly had personal knowledge that Mr. Cook set up the robbery. R. 90. As such, his credibility is an essential issue to the defense. Id.

The trial judge justifies his ruling by stating that his credibility is still at issue since there are inconsistent statements. R. 96-97. However, there is much more doubt in the air when you have two possible gunmen pointing the finger at each other than if you have one

taking the stand and admitting to shooting the victim. A confession of being the triggerman is very compelling evidence for truthfulness. It gives the impression that he is forthcoming and everything he says is truthful. It gives the impression he would not lie about anything else—like the allegation that the Defendant set up the robbery.

Meon Miller was the only witness who testified that Defendant had knowledge of the robbery. R. 356-59. If you could show he lied about pulling the trigger, a strategy is present to have the jury speculate about what other facts he may be lying about and create reasonable doubt. In summary, this evidence strongly affects the credibility of the witness, which is one of the State's main witnesses. It completely changes the way the Defense would approach the case and prepare for it. Giving the defendant overnight to change his trial strategy is not adequate time to be able to effectively cross-examine the witness. As a result, Defendant was deprived of a fair trial.

D) Additional Cellphone Information

The fourth piece of evidence is the additional cell tower information that was not provided to the Defendant until the second day of the trial, immediately before opening statements were to begin. R. 125-26. This information was specifically the addresses of the cellphone numbers that were provided to Defense the day prior to the trial. As previously stated, the cellphone records of the Defendant and co-conspirators was an essential piece of evidence used in the prosecution's case-in-chief. As such, any information relating to those records should have promptly been disclosed to the Defendant. Failure to disclose this information in a timely fashion deprived the Defendant of a fair trial.

Each of these pieces of evidence were material to the Defendant's defense, and thus, were required to promptly be disclosed to the Defendant so that he could effectively cross-examine the witnesses against him and receive a fair trial. Each piece of evidence was individually prejudicial to the case. Moreover, in taking all four in whole, cumulatively, they were detrimental to the defendant in effectively providing a defense, in violation of his due process rights.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant requests that the Court reverse the decision of the trial court, grant the Defendant a new trial, or dismiss the charges against him in their entirety.