ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF E OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Lee Alford, Circuit Court Judge
2011-GS-32-1505, 2012-GS-32-6044, 6042

Appellate Case No. 2013-000819

RECEIVED

OCT 31 2014

Respondent, SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

v.

RODERQUIZ ROZELLE COOK,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3601
S.C. Bar #5758

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 E. Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ARGUMENT

- I. **Where no request for a continuance or mistrial is made, The disclosure of an additional admission of a co-defendant that he was the triggerperson, additional information from the Appellant's girlfriend that Appellant sold drugs in Batesburg, and disclosure of cell tower site location information did not require the trial court to sua sponte dismiss the charges or grant a mistrial where it was not requested or necessary to preserve a fair trial.**

In his brief before this Court, the Appellant, for the first time, claims the disclosure of information from the State to the defense prior to opening statement of information and/or documents that had recently come into their knowledge and/or possession entitles him to either a new trial or dismissal of the charges. As set forth below, these newly requested remedies are because they were not requested at trial. To the contrary, the only relief requested was to oddly suppress at a pretrial motion inculpatory information by Meon Miller on March 29, 2013 that he was the person who shot Willie Jennings in contradiction to his September 15, 2011 statement that Angelo Tucker had shot Jennings. Rather than suppress who shot Jennings (and rely upon repudiated statements of Miller), the trial court wisely used its discretion and postponed the trial for a day to allow Appellant's counsel to assess the impact upon its strategy. At trial, absent any particularly claims concerning Tasha Matthews additional information on the cell tower site location information, no objection was made by Appellant to the evidence. Absent any showing that a right to a fair trial had been compromised, the appeal must be dismissed.

How The Issue Was Raised Below

On December 15, 2010, then counsel for the Appellant Carolyn Sutherland, made a "Motion for Discovery and Disclosure of Evidence." ROA 9-12. (Motion for Discovery, Dec. 15, 2010). It is uncontested that number items of evidence, records, statements of witnesses and

co-defendants, telephone records, and other items were revealed by the State to the defense, including ultimately his trial counsel, Deon O'Neill. In addition, the items produced during the around two and one-half years included statements by Tasha Matthews, Angelo Tucker, and Meon Miller. Mr. Miller's statement given on September 15, 2011 that included information which connected directly to Appellant Rod Cook's planning and involvement in the robbery, the disputed role of Tasha Matthews concerning her knowledge of the robbery plan, and a version of the incident leading to the death of Willie Jennings which placed the triggerman of the shot as Angelo Tucker, not Meon Miller.²

The record of the pretrial motion hearing on April 8, 2013, counsel for Appellant filed, among other matters a "Motion for Disclosure under Riddle" and a "Motion to Reveal Concessions Plea Deals or Immunities", both dated April 8, 2013. ROA 1-4,5-8. At the outset, he sought out information from the prosecution requesting notes, statements, or changes from witnesses that may be useful for impeachment. R. 17-18.

Assistant Deputy Attorney General Heather Weiss responded that the State had turned over everything that had come into its possession. R. 18. She declared that last night (Sunday April 7) she had provided notes that they had received from a co-defendant's lawyer. She stated that it had provided cell tower site location information and would provide any additional cell phone tower information once it is in their possession. R. 17-18. The prosecutor noted that the defense had the cell phone records for "a long time" prior to the trial. R.p. 17, ll. 3-1. She stated the cell tower site location information had come up yesterday. R.p. 17, ll. 8-14.

² The State's version of the crime was that Miller was the shooter. However, its theory of Appellant's guilt was related to Cook's planning of the crime and guilt under the "hands of one, hands of all" theory.

As to any information from witnesses and co-defendants in response to the so-called Riddle motion, the prosecutor stated they had turned over notes they had received from the co-defendant's attorneys. R. 18-19.

Counsel O'Neill specifically asked "have they spoken to any co-defendant, Tasha Matthews, Meon Miller, Angelo Tucker, since the last statement I had from those individuals that either written or verbally contradicts anything they said previously?" R.p. 19, ll. 23-25. The prosecutor initially responded "there's nothing – I am not aware of anything that's contradictory to anything they said before." R.p. 19, ll. 23-25. [This last statements was corrected by Assistant Attorney General Cote immediately after the lunch break].

Concerning any deals to witnesses, the prosecutor responded that there were no deals offered by the State to any witness or co-defendant. R. 20-21. Rather, she stated that the only offer had been made to the Appellant. R.p. 20, l. 22 – p. 21, l. 20.

Subsequently, after a speedy trial motion was denied and a lunch break, Assistant Attorney General Nancy Cote stated that they had reviewed their notes over the break and had provided additional information to counsel O'Neill. R. 84. Counsel for Appellant stated one of the new items concerned additional information learned from Tasha Matthews, a co-conspirator and driver of Millen and Tucker to the crime site, who had stated that Cook was dealing drugs in the Batesburg-Leesville area and that Ron (Appellant) and Meon had done drug deals. R. p. 85, ll. 20-23.

An additional item was an oral statement by Meon Miller which was given in pretrial preparation on March 29, 2013. The State advised that Miller had changed his testimony from witnessing Angelo Tucker shoot Jennings to describing that Miller himself had shot Jennings. R.

86-98. This new information varied from the September 15, 2011 statement of Meon Miller that defense counsel had been provided wherein he denied shooting and placed the blame on Tucker.

The defense claimed it should be suppressed under Rule 5 and the U.S. Constitution because it changed his strategy. He claimed his strategy was that Meon Miller was clearly the triggerman from the evidence and that his statement in 2011 to the contrary revealed he was not a credible person. He suggested that now that he has admitted doing the shooting that this makes him more credible than less credible and therefore hurts his case. O'Neill suggests that since Miller's earlier statement tied Cook as planning and directing the McDonald's armed robbery, that this revision hurt his case and changes his whole strategy R.p. 84, l. 21 – p. 85, l. 12. He complained that learning this information moments before the opening state changed the premise of his defense. R. 86.

The prosecution stated that they had just talked with Miller on March 29 when he revised his role to be the triggerman. She noted that Miller still asserted both (he and Tucker) were involved, but that he did the shooting. Assistant Attorney General Weiss stated under the hand of one hand of all theory, it did not matter to the State whether Miller or Tucker was the triggerman because both were there and involved in the crime when Jennings was shot. R. 85. Further, Miller's statement now is essentially "I shot him, but I didn't mean to kill him." R.p. 86-p. 87, l. 7. The State contended that this new information could not change the defense.

O'Neill responded that the focus of the change concerns the level of credibility that Meon Miller has. R. 87-88. His defense was based upon a claim that the State was relying upon a person "who has no credibility", but now he has admitted his role. [Oddly, the defense asserts that Miller is the triggerman, but does not want him to acknowledge that he did it]. He states that it is not fair to be tried by ambush.

The State asserted it is the same factual scenario because now Miller has given a series of inconsistent statements still subject to impeachment and she can't change the fact he said it. She declared that Miller now claims that he is the one who fired the shot, but still said Angelo had the gun first and that Miller got it after it had dropped and he's the one that fired the shot. R. p. 89, ll. 5-9.

Judge Alford agreed that Meon Miller's new version should have been given to them sooner than today (April 8)(since it was made on March 29). R. 89-92. Judge Alford stated Miller has now given different versions and his credibility is still at issue. R. p. 91, ll. 9-15. Judge Alford stated that since it was a surprise today, he would recess until the next day to give him time to work on his defense. R. p. 91, ll. 16-21. Judge Alford noted that he did not think the change made much difference at all, but will give him overnight to address it. R.p. 91, ll. 19-21. Although the defense may think the change rehabilitates Miller, his credibility is still at issue. R.p. 92, ll. 10-24.

The State confirmed the first time they heard the admission of Miller was on March 29. R. 93-94. The State asserted it always made sense to them that Miller was the triggerman because he was instructed to go there by the Appellant, that he had pulled the gun out of his waistband and put it in the glove compartment when he returned to Matthews' car. R. 94-95. Further, in the pretrial preparation, Angelo Tucker still maintained that Miller had fired the weapon. R. 95. After further discussion, Judge Alford advised the parties to meet to resolve the disclosures and postponed the matter until the next day (April 9). R. 98-107.

When they returned the next day, the attorneys confirmed that they had met and discussed the versions of the oral statements and the inconsistencies with Miller's and Matthews' earlier statements. R. 113-125. In addition, Assistant Attorney General Cote advised the court

that the additional cell phone tower information had just been made available to them and they provided it to the defense. R. 126. Further, the defense also stated that he was satisfied with the disclosure he had received about Tasha Matthews. R. 126-130.

The trial began at 10:26 a.m. with the return of the jury.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Tennant, 383 S.C. 245, 254, 678 S.E.2d 812, 816 (Ct.App.2009), modified on other grounds, 394 S.C. 5, 21, 714 S.E.2d 297, 305 (2011) (citation and quotation marks omitted). Likewise, “[t]he granting or refusing of a motion for a mistrial lies within the sound discretion of the trial court[,] and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627–28 (2000) (citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Tennant, 383 S.C. at 254, 678 S.E.2d at 816 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

A. FAILURE TO PRESERVE ISSUES

The Appellant seeks the relief of a new trial or dismissal of the charges (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 14) concerning the failure to disclose in a more timely fashion certain documents or information until the times before the trial was begun. First, a review of the record reveals that at no time did the Appellant request a “dismissal of the charges” as a sanction for either an alleged Rule 5 violation or a violation under Brady. This extraordinary request for relief was not sought below and is not properly before this Court. Alternately, it would be unwarranted under these circumstances where the matters were disclosed prior to the beginning the opening statements and taking of any testimony.

Because Appellant failed to object at the admission of the allegedly belatedly disclosed “evidence” or raise the motion for a mistrial at any time, the issues are not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) (“A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.”); State v. Garris, 394 S.C. 336, 348, 714 S.E.2d 888, 894-895 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding objection to the testimony after the State rested its case instead of when testimony actually admitted was insufficient to preserve and issue for the Court’s review); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997) (“Failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object.”).

The particular items he challenges were disclosed before the opening statements. The Appellant initially indicated at the April 8 pre-trial hearing, after a lunch break, that the (March 29) statement of Meon Miller should be suppressed under Rule 5 and the United States Constitution. R.p. 85, ll. 6-12. He opined that the disclosure of the Miller statement admission that he was the trigger person contrary to his September 2011 statement - revised his defense strategy because it was his theory that Meon Miller was not credible in his denials that he was a triggerman against the weight of the evidence and that therefore Miller’s assertion of Appellant’s role in the crime was not credible is affected by the admission that he was the trigger person. R. 85, 87-88.

Further, the trial was begun after the trial judge gave the Appellant and his counsel a recess overnight by postponing that start of the actual trial for a day due to the various disclosures, particularly the disclosure of Meon Miller’s March 29, 2013 revelation that he was the triggerman. R. 99-100, 105-06. Counsel indicated that he was fine with the recess and

starting the next day. R.p. 106, l. 16. At the time the court reconvened, no additional request for a continuance was made.

On April 9, 2013, before the opening statement, counsel indicated that he was “fine” concerning the April 8, 2013 disclosure of **Tasha Matthews’** additional information that she had told the prosecution that Rod Cook and Meon Miller had dealt drugs together, that Rod Cook had dealt drugs in Batesburg–Leesville, that she had taken him there when he had done that, and that she had thought when she had dropped off the co-defendants that she thought this was a drug deal. R.p. 127-28, l. 10. (I was saying I was fine with the disclosure.”); R.p. 128, ll. 8-9; p. 128, ll. 8-12. (“if they want it for that limited purpose, then I won’t object to it”).

Concerning the **cell phone tower site information** that was revealed to the Appellant on April 7, 8, and 9 before the trial began, there was no objection by the defense to the cell phone records (State Exhibit 4, 5, 6) presented through Susan Johnson,³ T-Mobile custodian of the records concerning the two telephones registered to Tasha Matthews and one registered to Joyce Miller. R. 163-64. Fatal to the Appellant’s issue, no objection was made to State Exhibit 3, the cell tower listings of the T-Mobile Towers. R.p. 166, l. 5 - p. 167, l. 12; p. 166, ll. 20-23 (“no objection”).

On cross-examination, defense counsel used cell tower site information concerning the location of certain calls made in Ridgeway and Columbia and to connect the particular times.

³ The cell phone records (State Exhibits 4,5,6) are not the cell phone tower records at issue. These phone records had been disclosed well before the other challenged material according to the uncontested statements at the trial. R p 17, ll 5-7 (He’s had the phone records, just as we have, for a long time)

See , e.g., R.p. 170, l. 2 – p. 172, l. 10, (Ridgeway towers); p. 174, l. 18 – p. 177, l. 7 (Columbia towers).⁴

No objection is made during **Meon Miller's** testimony to his admission of being the trigger person. No motion to suppress was made prior to his testimony related to the March 29 oral statement R. 346-351. Particularly, Meon Miller, without objection, testified:

They (Angelo Ticker and the victim Willie Jennings) was wrestling over the gun. They was wrestling, and then the gun dropped. So I picked it up. When I picked it up he rushed me, like he was on my back. And I got the gun pointed at the ground, so I fired at the ground a couple of times.

And then when he finally let me go - - when he finally let me go, I looked back, it looked like he had got shot in his leg. So I'm thinking like. "I done shot this guy." So I ran.

R.p. 388, l. 25- p. 389, l. 9. Rather than just run after the victim got the gun out of Angelo's hands, Miller stated : "I just thought to pick the gun up, you know, to continue the robbery." R.p. 391, ll. 1-3. When he picked up the gun, the victim was standing in front of him and Miller stated he told the victim to not move, but the victim rushed him and grabbed his hand and started wrestling for the gun, and Miller shot initially once into the ground and then pulled the trigger two more times. R.p. 395, ll. 17-24. Miller stated that he was just shooting into the ground to get him off of him. R.p. 396, ll. 5-10. See also, R.p. 473, ll. 5-11. After the third shot, Miller stated that he looked back and saw that the victim had let go and fallen and was hopping like he had been shot. R. 396-97. He stated that he and Angelo then ran. R. 397.

The defense cross-examined Miller on his September 15, 2011 four page statement (Defendant's Exhibit One for ID) and the inconsistencies with his present testimony. R.p. 425,

⁴ The state called James Dobbins, custodian of the records for AT&T Without objection, he presented the telephone records for two numbers which included a phone associated with the McDonald's and Tasha Matthews No objection was made to the presentation of these records R. 297-98 No questions were made by the defense R. 300

l. 5- p. 435; p. 474, l. 8- p. 475, l. 1, p. 484.⁵ Miller stated that it was a lie in the statement when he said that the gun was in Tucker's hand when it went off and that he saw Tucker shoot Mr. Jennings. R.p. 435, ll. 5-13; p. 495, ll. 10-25.⁶ As Miller stated to defense counsel concerning the September 2011 statement: "some of it's the truth, but it's a lot of lies in it." R.p. 437, ll. 16-17. He further stated he was lying in September 2011 because he was trying to get home. No objection was made to the testimony about the shooting by Miller.

Similarly, no objection was made or motion to strike the testimony of Tasha Matthews. R. 179-261. Particularly there was no objection to her testimony that Cook would sell marijuana as his other source of income. R.p.196, l. 13 –p. 197. She testified that it was not unusual for Cook to tell Tasha to bring Meon back with her to Batesburg or to pick Meon up and drive him around, which happened on a fairly regular basis. R. 214-15. She stated this was done through Cook, but she did not ask why. R. 215. Tasha stated that when she went upon Cook's direction with Meon to Sandhills to pick up Angelo Tucker, who she did not know, she saw Angelo had his bookbag with him, which she thought had drugs since she knew Meon sold drugs sometimes. R. 218-221. She stated that she initially thought she was taking him to do a drug deal. R. 220-21. [No objection]. Angelo opened the book bag and Meon stated there was a lot of ammo and Tasha then thought they had guns and bullets and that this was not a drug deal. R. 221. However, she later testified that after she dropped them off at the stoplight she stated that she would wait for them at a road by the Waffle House where she parked. R.p. 227, l. 18- p. 229, l. 3. She stated that she thought it was going to be a drug deal. R. 229-230. She stated that she then saw Meon and Angelo return to the car without carrying anything and they were arguing

⁵ The prosecution objected to the admission the Miller's written statement into evidence. R p 425, ll 17-20

⁶ The copy of the trial transcript the Respondent received has duplicated various portions of Meon Miller's testimony. It appears that his testimony set forth Tr p 514, l 17 – p 575, l 1 is repeated from Tr p 575, l 2 – p 635, l 13

and Meon was sweating and Angelo kept asking him what happened. R. 230-31. She stated that Meon then took the gun from out of his waistband and put it in the glove box. R. 231-32. She stated that police then pulled up to them. R. 232. On cross-examination, Tasha testified that she thought Angelo Tucker and Meon Miller were going to do a drug deal and thought that drugs were concealed in the book bag. She stated she did not have any idea about a robbery. R. 276-77. She also stated that the Appellant never talked to her about a robbery or setting up a robbery with her. R. 278-79.

Further, at the close of the state's case, no objection is raised concerning this evidence or the allegedly late disclosure. R. 695-715. Similarly, no issue was raised after the verdict concerning the alleged disclosure issues related to the statements of Tasha Matthews, Meon Miller and the cell phone tower site material.

The abandonment of the issues related to the individual pieces of evidence bars appellate review.⁷ It must be dismissed.

ANALYSIS

RULE 5 ISSUE RELATED TO DISCLOSED INFORMATION.

Rule 5(a)(1)(C), SCRCrimP, provides, in relevant part:

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